CLEVON

Group Annual Report 2022

(Translation of the Estonian original)

CLEVON AS

GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Business name:	Clevon AS
Commercial register number:	16472103
Address:	Reinu tee 48, 71020, Viljandi
Telephone:	+372 5597 7090
E-mail address:	info@clevon.com
Website:	www.clevon.com
Beginning of financial year:	01 January
End of financial year:	31 December
Legal form:	Public limited company
Auditor:	KPMG Baltics OÜ

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	3
MANAGEMENT REPORT	4
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	9
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION	9
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME	10
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW	11
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY	12
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	13
NOTE 1. GENERAL INFORMATION	13
NOTE 2. BASES OF PREPARING REPORT	13
NOTE 3. FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY	13
NOTE 4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS	13
NOTE 5. NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS TO STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS	14
NOTE 6. ACCOUNTING POLICIES	16
NOTE 7. EARNINGS PER SHARE	26
NOTE 8. PREPAYMENTS	26
NOTE 9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT	27
NOTE 10. INTANGIBLE NON-CURRENT ASSETS	28
NOTE 11. REVENUE	28
NOTE 12. GOODS, RAW MATERIAL, MATERIALS AND SERVICES	29
NOTE 13. OPERATING COSTS	29
NOTE 14. PERSONNEL EXPENSES	29
NOTE 15. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS	30
NOTE 16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES	31
NOTE 17. RELATED PARTIES	31
NOTE 18. GOING CONCERN	32
NOTE 19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – FAIR VALUE AND RISK MANAGEMENT	33
NOTE 20. FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON THE GROUP'S PARENT COMPANY	35
DECLARATION OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD	39
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT	40
PROFIT ALLOCATION RECOMMENDATION	42

MANAGEMENT REPORT

Clevon AS was registered in the Estonian Commercial Register on 1 April 2022, when the division plan approved on 22 February 2022 entered into effect. The division took place by way of separation, where the company being divided, Cleveron AS, transferred the assets, liabilities and rights of the driverless vehicle technology development unit to the company being separated, Cleveron Mobility AS, which adopted the business name Clevon AS starting from 06 December 2022.

In June 2022, an initial public offering (IPO) of Clevon AS shares was completed and trading of the company's shares on the First North multilateral trading facility operated by Nasdaq Tallinn AS (First North) started on 28 June 2022. Despite the complicated circumstances, all the shares on offer were subscribed to, and a total of 5 million euros were raised through the IPO from over 6,700 retail investors, and 0.2 million euros from two qualified investors. The subscription price of the share was 1.87 euros; after the issue of new shares, the number of shares listed by the company was 29,575,771, and the value of the company was 55.3 million euros. As at the end of the reporting period on 31/12/2022, the share price was 1.588 euros and the market value of the company amounted to 47.0 million euros.

The capital raised gave impetus to the rapid development of the company. Upon separation in April 2022, the company had 47 employees, at the end of 2022 the group employed a staff of 90 employees, 3 of them in the 100% owned subsidiary Clevon Corporation in Texas, USA. The largest growth has taken place in the development team and development activities have intensified with the aim of increasing the autonomy and reliability of autonomous robotic couriers.

Technology

At the beginning of 2022, the technical readiness of Clevon AS's driverless vehicles was at a level where the vehicles could be safely operated from the control centre. In the 1st quarter of 2022, the development of a new vehicle platform (CLEVON 1) was completed, the functionality of which was validated by the Transport Board, and we received permission to operate on the streets of Estonia, initially with an escort vehicle. CLEVON 1 is a completely new vehicle, which has been made on the basis of the requirements of the L6e category. The vehicle features a new exterior design, and we have received a lot of positive feedback about it. With regard to the mechanical part, a new solution has been developed for the suspension, brakes, drivetrain and steering system. The vehicle is also equipped with a wireless charger. An important achievement in development is the modular electronic control module for controlling actuators. Thanks to modularity, we are able to develop and productise vehicle electronics faster and more efficiently.

The focus of the software development was to further increase the reliability and security of teleoperation, and at the same time gain confidence in order to completely abandon the escort vehicle. This goal was indeed achieved. Our strategy is to gradually increase the autonomy of the vehicle and, through this, the ability to use our vehicles to provide a service in the earliest possible phase of the project, being fully supported by the presence of teleoperation. At the same time, the company has been working on the achievement of vehicle autonomy, i.e., analysing and developing the ADS (Automated Driving System), both at the research level and software implementations. We have achieved the readiness of the vehicles to operate in pre-mapped and defined areas without the driver having to perform the operational tasks of the vehicle (i.e., turning the steering wheel and setting the speed). However, it is necessary to monitor the vehicle and, where needed, perform tactical tasks and decisions.

In addition to the development of the ADS system, the focus has also been on the development of and interfaces to client applications, which also supports our strategy point to provide services as soon as possible. It comprises courier and end-client interfaces for various pilot projects (e.g., DPD, DHL, IKI/LastMile), overlay application interfaces (remote overlay application monitoring and control) and the design and developments for the Fleet Management System and Ride Management System.

We also developed actively the vehicle infrastructure, i.e., the ability to manage the vehicle fleet remotely.

It includes the capability and process for automatic updating of the vehicle software, fleet monitoring and remote troubleshooting, data collection, management and analysis capabilities.

By the end of 2022, the prototype of the overlay application for the simultaneous transport of several separate parcels was completed. A new type of overlay application allows to deliver parcels to several clients with one trip, thereby increasing the number of parcels delivered in one unit of time and increasing efficiency. In 2023, the objective is further development of the prototype into a ready-to-use model and its productization.

Marketing and pilot projects

Along with the development activities, the company was realising pilot projects in cooperation with potential clients with the aim of obtaining information about how driverless robotic couriers fit into the client's business model, the possibility of replacing internal combustion engine vans, and the suitability of this solution for meeting the clients' business and environmental sustainability goals. In May 2022, Clevon introduced the third-generation autonomous robotic courier CLEVON 1. The all-electric platform vehicle can effectively launch service provision in new areas thanks to its fast service area mapping, autopilot and remote control capabilities. The new unmanned robotic courier was the first in Europe to start offering service on public roads in cooperation with DPD Estonia. Moreover, Clevon also started cooperation with DHL Express Estonia in Tallinn. CLEVON 1 transported parcels of both logistics companies to business clients. Groceries were transported to private clients with the Colruyt Group in Belgium and with IKI grocery stores (REWE Group) in Lithuania.

In the autumn of 2022, Clevon expanded its business to North America, where it established the subsidiary Clevon Corporation and opened the US headquarters in the Dallas-Fort Worth metropolis, in the infrastructure innovation centre of the AllianceTexas Mobility Innovation Zone. The opening ceremony was attended by the President of the Republic of Estonia Alar Karis, Brandom Gengelbach, CEO and President of the Fort Worth Chamber of Commerce, as well as Ross Perot Jr., Chairman of the Perot Group and the real estate development company Hillwood. The CLEVON 1 vehicle also successfully made the first delivery in North America, more precisely, in the city of Fort Worth. However, in cooperation with the city of Arlington (Texas), a robotic courier delivered over 100 meals to a client in less than two hours. Furthermore, in the second half of 2022, Clevon introduced its product concept to one of the largest retailers in the United States, and proved the effectiveness of the robotic courier. Clevon is strengthening its presence in the USA ever more firmly, and the team is growing as well. Nathan Ray, who has 16 years of experience in various operations and strategy positions at companies such as Albertsons, HelloFresh, Amazon and Target, was brought in as the head of business development.

By the end of the reporting year, Clevon's robotic couriers have already covered more than 20,000 kilometres on public roads making deliveries. Clevon's vehicles have been tested on European public roads for over 2.5 years and have proven to be safe and reliable vehicles. The vehicle is environmentally friendly, generates zero emissions and reduces last mile labour costs by up to 90%.

By the end of the year, a total of 20 autonomous robotic couriers CLEVON 1 had been produced and are in active use. The vehicles are used both for testing at the company's closed test site and in pilot projects in Estonia, other European countries and at the subsidiary in the USA. On the test site, the vehicles perform predetermined tasks of varying degrees of difficulty simulating real-life situations on city streets in order to improve the performance of the vehicles and identify possible hazard situations.

In order to make new contacts and introduce unmanned robotic couriers, Clevon participated in several fairs, including the largest technology fairs in the world GITEX Dubai 2022 and CES 2023 in Las Vegas in early 2023.

Plans for the future

In 2023-2024, the focus will be on increasing vehicle autonomy, improving cyber security and scalability of external interfaces. The ADS set gets a hardware upgrade in the form of added sensors, a more powerful computer and a router, which allows us to keep our system modern and more efficient. We put more emphasis on the use of simulation in development and testing, which significantly speeds up and automates our work. We continue to work to ensure that our processes and systems support higher cybersecurity requirements. The plan is to achieve sufficient autonomy so that the vehicle fleet can be operated with a smaller number of operators, which requires the next generation MRM (Minimum Risk Manoeuvre) functionality. We intend to further develop an automated precision mapping and routing system that will quickly support entering new areas and increasing autonomy there. With the aim of achieving fast integration with new services, we are developing the Fleet Management System ecosystem to become more flexible and scalable.

As a result of the company's strategy, preparations began in 2022 to achieve the necessary quality standards used in the automotive industry for both the development and the production. In 2023, the mapping, creation and implementation of various processes will continue in order to meet the requirements of a company of the automotive sector, and the ultimate goal of these activities is to launch on the market a type-approved vehicle.

Leaving First North

In a stock exchange announcement of 16 January 2023, Clevon announced its plan to leave First North. The reasoning given for the departure from First North is the need to raise additional capital, which is necessary for the further development of Clévon's main product – the CLEVON 1 vehicle and the technology contained in it – raising of which from public sources, both at present and in future fundraising rounds, is extremely unlikely. Therefore, Clevon is looking for potential investors outside First North, communication with whom has shown that in order to attract capital from them for further development, Clevon has to leave First North. As finding investors has taken more time than anticipated due to being listed and the liquidity position of the company has worsened, Clevon has temporarily reduced the cost level until additional financing is certain.

Additional information about the departure from First North will be announced as soon as possible.

Economic results

The group's sales revenue in 2022 was 98 thousand euros, and this revenue was earned mainly from the implementation of the pilot projects. The group's expenditure on goods, material and services amounted to 510 thousand euros, miscellaneous operating expenses 1,081 thousand euros, labour costs (including the cost of share-based payments) 2,677 thousand euros and the cost of non-current assets 782 thousand euros. The group's business is not affected by seasonality.

The operating loss for 2022 amounted to 3,258 thousand euros, which is primarily due to the rapid growth of the company's operations and the number of employees. The EBITDA for 2022 was -2,488 thousand euros.

Investments in non-current assets amounted to 3,145 thousand euros, of which investments in property, plant and equipment amounted to 1,147 thousand euros and in intangible non-current assets amounted to 1,698 thousand euros (including capitalised expenses for manufacturing of non-current assets for own use in the amount of 1,685 thousand euros).

The group had 991 thousand euros in floating interest rate loans, the rise of Euribor from the second half of 2022 has significantly increased the interest expenses of the company.

Objectives and their realisation

At the time of the public offering of Clevon AS shares, the company's description stated the following goals for 2022:

	2022
Number of vehicles	~15
Driving hours per day per vehicle	3
Sales revenue per year	40,000 – 60,000
Operating costs including operator cost, maintenance cost and other operating costs	1,800,000 – 2,000,000
EBITDA per year (-)	(1,750,000 - 2,000,000)
Investments in production (including vehicle production cost) and product development	2,800,000

By the end of 2022, a total of 20 vehicles were produced (estimated ~15 vehicles), which allow parallel testing of vehicles in closed areas (including snowy conditions) and also in real conditions in pilot projects with various potential clients.

The sales revenue in 2022 exceeded the forecast by at least 38 thousand euros (98 thousand euros vs. 40 - 60 thousand euros), which became possible thanks to active marketing activities and several pilot projects.

Operating costs, including operator costs, maintenance costs and other operating costs stayed below the forecast (1,800 - 2,000 thousand euros) and amounted to 1,280 thousand euros thanks to the effective management of the company's processes. The EBITDA in 2022 fell short of the forecast by at least 488 thousand euros (-2,488 thousand euros vs -1,750 ... -2,000 thousand euros). This can be attributed to the rapid growth of the company's operations in the second half of 2022, including costs related to the establishment of a subsidiary in the US, as well as rapidly increasing labour costs due to the economic environment.

Economic environment

According to the Estonian Central Bank's forecast, the economy is expected to grow by 0.4% in 2023 and 3.1% in 2024. The consumer price growth accelerated to 20% by December 2022. According to the Estonian Central Bank's forecast, the consumer price change in 2023 will be 9.3% and 2.8% in 2024.

As economic activity slows down, some businesses are expected to lay off employees due to lower demand and significantly increased input and energy prices. This will result in a decrease in demand for labour at the beginning of 2023. Meanwhile, the supply of labour is expected to remain high, with a higher participation rate and the arrival of approximately 40 thousand Ukrainian war refugees in early 2023 and an estimated 75 thousand by early 2024. This, in turn, is expected to increase unemployment, with the unemployment rate predicted to rise to almost 9%. On the one hand, higher unemployment will lead to a decrease in wage growth, but on the other hand, fast price increases, as well as increases in the minimum wage and public sector wages, will counteract this trend.

The trends mentioned have a neutral impact on the future prospects of the group; the increase in salaries affects the competitiveness of the product on the market, however the slight growth in labor costs increases the amount of capital required.

Environment and social responsibility

The Group continues to develop its products, which has a significant positive impact to decreasing air pollution in urban environments in case its targets are met, by electrification of the transport of goods and reducing fuel costs, which is driven by replacing large and heavy vehicles with gas and diesel engines with a lighter vehicle driven by electric drive.

The Group is an international organisation which supports diversity, different cultures and nationalities. As

at 31 December 2022, the Group employed 94 people, 91 in Estonia and 3 in the US. In 2022, the Group employed:

- 12% women and 88% men
- 2 official working languages was constantly in use.

Shares of Clevon

The shares of Clevon AS have been listed on Nasdaq Tallinn First North since 28 June 2022. As at 31 December 2022, the amount of subscribed shares is 29 575 771 with a nominal value of 0,10 euros per share. Accordingly, the share capital is 2 957 577 euros. All shares belong to a single class and there are no ownership restrictions. The Articles of Association of the company do not impose any restrictions on the transfer of the company's shares. There are no known restrictions on the transfer of securities laid down in the shareholders' agreements.

During 2022, the share price has decreased by 11,28%, from 1,79 euros to 1,588 euros. Compared to the value of the initial public offering at 1,87 euros per share, the share price has decreased by 15,08%. Significant shareholding (more than 5%) is held by the Chair of the Management Board Arno Kütt (via Konna OÜ), Chairman of the Supervisory Board Peep Kuld (via Bagira OÜ), Supervisory Board Member Ivar Siimar (via Sibo Invest OÜ), Supervisory Board Member Stanislav Ivanov (via Tera Ventures I Usaldusfond) and Supervisory Board Member Indrek Oolup.

Arno Kütt Chair of the Management Board of Clevon AS arno.kutt@clevon.com

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(euros)	Note	31/12/2022	01/04/2022
Current assets			
Cash and cash equivalents		1 767 398	0
Trade and other receivables	8	91 500	0
Prepayments	8	20 733	0
Inventories		334 053	496 115
Total current assets		2 213 684	496 115
Non-current assets			
Prepayments	8	12 223	0
Property, plant and equipment	9	1 772 287	555 343
Intangible assets	10	4 595 642	3 415 254
Total non-current assets		6 380 152	3 970 597
TOTAL ASSETS		8 593 837	4 466 712
Current liabilities			
Financial lease liabilities	17	797 219	16 559
Trade payables		134 976	O
Employee related liabilities		248 756	35 474
Other liabilities		248 821	0
Total current liabilities		1 429 772	52 033
Non-current liabilities			
Loans	17	647 700	33 317
Total non-current liabilities		647 700	33 317
Total liabilites		2 077 472	85 351
EQUITY			
Share capital		2 957 577	2 679 500
Share premium		6 508 708	1 701 862
Other reserves		381 903	0
Profit (loss) for the period		-3 331 824	0
Total equity attributable to owners of the parent		6 516 364	4 381 362
Total equity		6 516 364	4 381 362
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY		8 593 837	4 466 712

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(euros)	Note	01/04/2022 - 31/12/2022
Revenue	11	98 420
Other income		12 948
Goods, raw material, materials and services	12	-509 632
Operating expenses	13	-1 081 766
Personnel expenses	14	-2 676 874
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment		-782 402
Capitalised expenses for manufacturing of non-current assets for own use	10	1 685 242
Other expenses		-3 897
Operating profit (loss)		-3 257 960
Finance income		186
Finance costs		-61 562
Other finance income and costs		-12 488
Finance costs – net		-73 864
Profit (loss) before income tax		-3 331 824
Profit (loss) for the period		-3 331 824
Attributable to owners of the parent		-3 331 824
Comprehensive income (loss) for the period		-3 331 824
Attributable to owners of the parent		-3 331 824
Basic earnings per share	7	-0,12

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

(euros)	Note	01/04/2022 - 31/12/2022
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATIING ACTIVITIES		
Profit (loss) for the period		-3 331 824
Adjustments:		
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment		782 402
Gain (loss) on sale of tangible and intangible fixed assets		-23
Finance costs		73 863
Increase in option reserve		381 903
Change in operating receivables and prepayments		-124 457
Change in inventories		162 062
Change in operating accounts payable and prepayments		597 079
TOTAL CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES		-1 458 993
CASH FLOWS IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES		
Paid upon acquisition of property, plant, and equipment, and non- current intangible assets		-2 645 594
Received from sales of property, plant, and equipment, and intangible assets		1 600
Paid upon acquisition of subsidiaries		-1
Interests received		186
TOTAL CASH FLOWS IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES		-2 643 809
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES		
Loans received		950 000
Repayments of loans received		-3 635
Repayment of lease liabilities		-110 181
Interests paid		-38 421
Received from share issue less issuance costs		5 084 924
TOTAL CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES		5 882 687
NET CASH FLOW		1 779 886
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period		0
Effect of movements in exchange rates on cash held		-12 488
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period		1 767 398

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

			ributable to of parent				
(euros)	Share capital	Share premium	Other reserves	Retained earnings (loss)	Total	Total equity	
Equity at 01/04/2022	2 679 500	1 701 862	-	-	4 381 362	4 381 362	
Profit (loss) for the period	0	0	0	-3 331 824	-3 331 824	-3 331 824	
Other compehensive income for the period	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Total comprehensive income for the period	0	0	0	-3 331 824	-3 331 824	-3 331 824	
Transactions with owners							
Share capital issued	278 077	4 806 846	0	0	5 084 923	5 084 923	
Formation of share option reserve	0	0	381 903	0	381 903	381 903	
Total transactions with owners	278 077	4 806 846	381 903	0	5 466 826	5 466 826	
Equity at 31/12/2022	2 957 577	6 508 708	381 903	-3 331 824	6 516 364	6 516 364	

The share capital in the amount of 2,957,577 euros (01/04/2022: 2,679,500 euros) is divided into 29,575,771 shares (01/04/2022: 26,795,000 shares) with a nominal value of 0.10 euros (01/04/2022: 0.10 euros) per share. As a result of raising equity, the premium increased by 4,806,846 euros. Additional costs directly related to the issuance of shares in the amount of 115,119 euros were recognised as a reduction of the premium.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Clevon AS (hereinafter also the parent company or company) is a company established in the Republic of Estonia on 01/04/2022. The registered address of the parent company is Reinu tee 48, 71020, city of Viljandi, Republic of Estonia. The consolidated annual financial statements of Clevon AS for the financial year ended 31/12/2022 include the parent company and its subsidiary (hereinafter the group). The main activity of the group is production of motor vehicles. The company produces a new generation of autonomous unmanned motor vehicles with the intention of making deliveries of goods to end consumers as efficient and environmentally friendly as possible.

NOTE 2. BASES OF PREPARING REPORT

The group's financial statements for the financial year ended on 31 December 2022 have been prepared in accordance with the international financial reporting standards (IFRS), as adopted by the European Union. This consolidated annual report is the group's first IFRS-based consolidated annual report. The financial statements for the financial year have been prepared for the period 01/04/2022 - 31/12/2022. Clevon AS was registered in the Estonian Commercial Register on 1 April 2022, when the division plan approved on 22/02/2022 entered into effect. The division took place by way of separation, where the company being divided, Cleveron AS, transferred the assets, liabilities and rights of the autonomous vehicle technology development unit to the company being separated Clevon AS (business name following the separation Cleveron Mobility AS).

The described accounting and reporting principles have been consistently applied to all periods presented in the report.

NOTE 3. FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY

These consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared in euros, which is the functional currency of the parent company.

NOTE 4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgements and estimates that affect the application of the Group's accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are recognised prospectively.

Judgements

Information about judgements made in applying accounting polocies that have the most significant effects on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in the following notes:

- Rental period: The management of the group has assessed during estimation of the rental period, whether or not the option to extend the contract will be used;
- Development cost: Development costs have been recorded as intangible assets

Assumptions and estimation uncertainties

 Recording intangible assets – Software and hardware developed in connection with developing a selfdriving vehicle is recorded as intangible assets. Capitalized development costs include labor costs and other costs directly related to the development. The labor costs of software product specialsits and developers is included in the acquisition cost of the software. For that the management assesses to what extent their total time worked is related to developing the software which is to be capitalized. As at 31 December 2022, the residual value of intangible assets was 4 596 thosuand euros (01 April 2022 3 415 thousand) (Note 10).

- Assessing the value of intangible assets Intangible assets are tested in case there is an event which suggests the value of the intangible assets may have decreased. Although the consolidated operating cash flows are negative, this is not an indication in this case of a decrease of the carrying value, as the business model of the group is that of a start-up. This means that the loss and negative cash flows are planned, as the prerequisite for increase in sales and the value of the group's assets is active marketing, quick hiring of new employees and product development. Additionally, the Group's market capitalization is larger than the carrying value of the assets. As a result, at 31 December 2022 and 01 April 2022 there were no indications of a decrease in the value of the intangible assets, which is why no tests were performed.
- Note 15: Share-based payments assumptions used in estimating the fair value
- Note 18: Going concern

Measurement of fair values

A number of the Group's accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

Fair value' is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

In measuring fair value, a transaction to sell an asset or transfer a liability is assumed to occur either:

- the main market for the asset or liability; or
- if there is no primary market, the most advantageous market.

The Group must have access to the main or most advantageous market on the measurement date.

The measurement of the fair value of an asset or liability uses assumptions that market participants would use in determining the price of the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their best economic interests. The measurement of the fair value of a non-financial asset takes into account the ability of the market participant to generate economic benefits by making the best use of the asset or by selling it to the market participant who would make the best use of the asset.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses observable market data as far as possible. Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

- Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices);

- Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in the following notes:

- Note 15: Share-based payments
- Note 19: Financial instruments

NOTE 5. NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS TO STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

The following new standards, interpretations and amendments do not yet apply to the reporting period ended on 31 December 2022, and they have not been implemented in the preparation of these annual financial statements. The group intends to apply these standards, interpretations and amendments when it becomes mandatory.

Amendments to IAS 1 "Presentation of Financial Statements"

(Applicable to accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023; applied retrospectively. Earlier application permitted.)

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current is based solely on the entity's right to postpone settlement at the end of the reporting period. The entity's right to defer settlement for at least 12 months from the reporting date need not be unconditional, but it must have substance. The classification is not affected by the management's intentions or expectations as to whether and when the entity will exercise its right. The amendments also clarify the situations that are considered settlement of a liability.

According to the group's assessment, the amendments will have no significant impact on the group's financial statements upon their first implementation.

Amendments to the Standard IAS 1 "Presentation of Financial Statements" and IFRS Practice Statement 2 "Making Materiality Judgements"

(Applicable to accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. Earlier application permitted.) The amendments to IAS 1 aim to help companies disclose more useful information about accounting policies by:

- requiring companies to disclose only material accounting policy information;
- clarifying that accounting policies related to immaterial transactions, other events or conditions are also immaterial and therefore do not require disclosure, and
- explaining that not all accounting policies related to material transactions, other events or conditions are material from the point of view of the company's financial statements.

The International Accounting Standards Board also amended the IFRS Practice Statement 2, by adding guidance and two additional examples on the application of the concept of materiality in accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments are in line with the specified definition of "materiality":

"Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with other information included in an entity's financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements".

According to the group's assessment, the amendments will have no significant impact on the group's financial statements upon their first implementation.

Amendments to IAS 8 "Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors"

Applicable to accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 applied prospectively. Earlier application permitted.

The amendments introduce a new definition of the term "accounting estimates": it is specified that these are monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments also explain the relationship between accounting policies and accounting estimates: specifying that an entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by the accounting policy.

The amendments are not expected to have a significant impact on the group, as they provide guidance on whether changes are to be regarded as changes in estimates, changes in accounting policies, or errors.

Amendments to IAS 12 "Income taxes"

Applies to accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. Earlier application permitted.

The amendments clarify the calculation of deferred income tax related to such transactions, where both an asset and a liability are recognised and the same taxation is applied to both. The amendments narrow the scope of the exception to initial recognition so that the exception in question does not apply to transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences. Therefore, entities have to recognise deferred tax assets and liabilities for temporary differences from the initial recognition of leases and decommissioning obligations. According to the group's assessment, the amendments will have no significant impact on the group's financial statements upon their first implementation.

Other amendments

The rest of the new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations that have not yet entered into force are not expected to have a significant impact on the group's financial statements.

NOTE 6. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Below is a summary of the material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated annual financial statements. The described accounting policies have been applied consistently, unless otherwise stated in the following text.

Preparation of consolidated statements

These consolidated annual financial statements contain the financial indicators of Clevon AS and its subsidiary consolidated on a line-by-line basis.

Subsidiaries

Consolidation of a subsidiary starts from the moment the group acquires control over the subsidiary in question, and ends from the moment the group loses control over said subsidiary. All assets, liabilities, income and expenses acquired or sold by subsidiaries during the year are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the date control is obtained until the date the group loses control over the subsidiary. Where necessary, the financial indicators of subsidiaries are adjusted so that they are in line with the accounting policies of the group.

Loss of control

When the group loses control of a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, as well as the related non-controlling interest and other components of equity. The gain or loss resulting from the loss of control is recognised in the income statement. The retained interest in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value.

Transactions to be eliminated on consolidation

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows related to transactions between members of the group are completely eliminated on consolidation.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits at banks, other short-term liquid investments with an initial maturity of up to three months and an insignificant risk of change in value.

Foreign currency

The functional currency of each consolidated unit of the group is the currency of the basic economic environment in which the given entity conducts its business. The presentation currency of the group is the euro, which is the official currency of the Republic of Estonia. The functional currency of the parent company is the euro, the functional currency of the US subsidiary is the dollar.

Foreign currency translations

Transactions in foreign currency are translated into the functional currencies of the group's companies at the exchange rate effective on the date of the transaction. A transaction in a foreign currency is translated into euros applying the exchange rate of the European Central Bank effective on the day of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency applying to the exchange rate of the functional currency effective on the reporting date. The gain or loss arising from exchange rate differences related to monetary assets or liabilities is the difference between the adjusted cost fixed in the functional currency at the beginning of the reporting period and the adjusted cost fixed in the foreign currency translated applying the exchange rate in effect at the end of the period.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency, which are carried at cost, are translated into the functional currency applying the exchange rate of the functional currency effective on the transaction date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value denominated in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate on the date the fair value was determined. The official exchange rate of the European Central Bank for the respective currency is used for translation. Exchange rate differences arising from translation are recognised as gains or loss.

Translation of financial statements of foreign subsidiaries

Assets and liabilities of foreign entities, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition, are translated into euros applying exchange rates of the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign entities are translated into euros based on the exchange rates effective on the day of the transaction.

Exchange rate differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented as a reserve for exchange rate differences in equity. In the case of a disposal of a foreign entity resulting in the loss of control or significant influence, the cumulative amount associated with the foreign entity in question shall be recognised as profit or loss carried from the rate difference reserve as part of the profit or loss from the disposal. If the group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that comprises a foreign entity and retains control, the respective pro rate share of the cumulative amount is attributed back to the non-controlling interest.

Financial assets and liabilities

Recognition and initial measurement

Accounts receivable are recognised when they emerge. All other financial assets and liabilities are recognised when the group becomes a counterparty to the instrument. Upon initial recognition, the group measures a financial asset or liability at its fair value plus or minus transaction costs that are directly connected with the acquisition of the financial asset or the issuance of the financial liability. Receivables from buyers that are not related to a significant financing component are recognised at the transaction price on initial recognition.

Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial assets

In the future, the group will recognise financial assets at amortised cost, at fair value through other comprehensive income, or at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets are not reclassified after their initial recognition, unless the group changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model.

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are satisfied:

 the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The group classifies cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, loans and other receivables as financial assets measured at amortised cost.

A financial asset is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as an asset recognised at fair value through profit or loss:

- the instruments are held within a business model whose objective is both to collect the contractual cash flows and to sell the financial asset; and
- the contractual terms guarantee cash flows on specific dates, which are solely the principal and the interest calculated on the unpaid principal.

All financial assets that are not classified as being measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, as described above, are measured at fair value through profit and loss.

Upon initial recognition, the group may also identify financial assets as measurable at fair value through profit or loss, if they meet the conditions for their recognition either at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, if doing so would significantly eliminate or reduce a measurement or recognition inconsistency which would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them on different bases.

The following table provides an overview of the group's financial assets and their measurement and recognition of gains and losses.

Amortised cost	These assets are carried at amortised cost applying the effective interest rate model.		
	The amortised cost is reduced by the impairment loss. Interest revenue, gains and		
	losses on exchange rate differences and depreciation are recognised in the income		
	statement. The gains or losses on derecognition is recognised in the income		
	statement.		

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as measured either at amortised cost or at fair value through profit or loss. A financial liability is classified at fair value through profit or loss, if it is held for trading, is a derivative financial instrument or is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss.

Other financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost applying the effective interest rate model. Interest expenses and gains or losses from exchange rate changes are recognised in profit or loss. The gains or losses on derecognition are recognised through net gains.

Derecognition

Financial assets

The group derecognises a financial asset if and only if the contractual right to the cash flows of the asset no longer exists or if the group transfers the financial asset and the transfer meets the derecognition criteria. The group transfers the contractual rights related to receiving the cash flows in a transaction in which all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or where the group does not transfer the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset during the transfer, but the group does not retain control over the financial asset.

In the case of transactions where the group transfers the assets recognised in its financial statements, but retains all or the main risks and rewards relating to the transferred assets, the group does not derecognise the transferred assets.

Financial liabilities

The group removes a financial liability from its statement of financial position if and only if it has been extinguished. Namely, when a liability specified in the contract has been fulfilled, cancelled or expired. The group stops recognising a financial liability if the terms of the financial liability are amended in such a way that the cash flows of the liability are significantly different from the original liability. In this case, the new financial liability based on the amended terms is recognised at fair value.

The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability (or a part thereof) extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including all transferred non-monetary assets or assumed liabilities, is recognised through net profit.

Balancing

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and recognised as a net amount in the financial statement if and only if the group has a legally enforceable right to set-off the amounts at that moment and the group knowingly intends either to settle them on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Impairment of financial assets

Upon recognising impairment, the group applies the expected credit loss model to financial assets carried at amortised cost.

The group measures the impairment in an amount equal to the expected credit losses over the lifetime, except for financial assets, the impairment of which is measured in an amount equal to the expected credit losses over 12 months:

- other requirements;
- cash and cash equivalents, where there has been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

The group applies the simplified approach provided in IFRS 9 for the recognition of expected credit losses on all trade receivables, which allows to recognise a loss allowance for lifetime expected credit losses.

The group always recognises the allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables in the amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses. The expected credit loss of said assets are estimated by applying a provision matrix which is based on the group's historical credit loss experience, which is adjusted by factors related to specific debtors, general state of the economy and, where necessary, the time value of money. Expected credit losses are probability-weighted estimated credit losses. Credit loss is the difference between contractual cash flows and cash flows expected by the group, which is discounted at the financial assets original effective interest rate.

At each reporting date, the group assesses whether or not the credit quality of financial assets carried at amortised cost has deteriorated. The credit quality of a financial asset has deteriorated if one or more events have occurred that have a negative impact on the expected future cash flows of this financial asset. Circumstances that give an indication that the credit quality of a financial asset has deteriorated are the following:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;
- breach of contract (failure to perform an obligation or failure to pay by the maturity date);
- restructuring of the loan or prepayment on terms and conditions that the group would not otherwise have accepted;
- it is likely that the debtor will run into payment difficulties.

The book value of the assets is reduced by the decrease in the value of the financial assets carried at amortised cost.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at cost that includes purchasing expenses, production costs and other direct expenses necessary to deliver inventories to their current location and condition.

The group applies the FIFO model to recognise inventories.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Inventory write-down to net realisable value is recognised as an expense of the accounting period in the cost of goods sold in the write-down period. If the previously written down net realisable value increases again in a later period, the earlier write-down has to be reversed.

Where inventories are measured at net realisable value, the costs from the write-down are recognised in the write-down period in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the line item "Goods, raw material, materials and services".

Deficits or surpluses identified in the course of physical stocktaking are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as other operating revenue or -expenses.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Initial accounting and recognition

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and possible impairment losses.

If different parts of property, plant and equipment have useful lives of different length, then they are initially accounted as individual items of property, plant and equipment (significant components). The depreciation rate for each component is determined separately, based on the expected useful life of the component.

Profits and losses arising from derecognition of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the income statement.

Subsequent costs

Subsequent cost of an item of property, plant and equipment shall be recognised as an asset if, and only if it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity. Other maintenance and repair costs shall be recognised as cost at the moment they are incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated by dividing the cost by the estimated useful life of the asset up to the carrying amount using the straight-line model and is recognised in profit or loss. The useful life of property, plant and equipment is reviewed at least at each financial year-end, and if new estimates differ from the previous ones, the changes are recognised as changes in accounting estimates, i.e., prospectively. Depreciation of an asset starts from the moment it is ready for use (moved to the location and working condition specified by the management).

The ranges of depreciation rates for property, plant and equipment are as follows:

_	Construction works and civil engineering works	1-5%
		1 3/0

- Production equipment
 8 20%
- Other machinery and equipment 10 33%
- Other property and IT equipment
 20 50%

The evaluation of assets for impairment is described in more detail in the accounting policy "Impairment of assets".

Non-current intangible assets

Non-current assets are recognised in the statement of the financial position when the asset is controlled by the group, if future economic benefits are expected to flow from it to the group, and if the cost of the asset can be reliably measured. An acquired non-current intangible asset is initially carried at cost, which consists of the purchasing price and other expenses directly linked with the acquisition. After initial recognition, non-current intangible assets are carried at cost, less the accrued amortisation and possible write-downs caused by impairments. Intangible assets are divided into assets with finite and indefinite useful lives.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful life are not amortised, but in order to verify their value they are impairment tested at every balance sheet date, and if the recoverable amount of the asset falls short of the carrying amount, the respective asset item shall be written down to the recoverable amount.

Intangible assets with a finite useful life are amortised applying the straight-line model based on the estimated useful life of the asset.

Research and development expenditure

Development expenditure is expenditure incurred to implement research results in the development of new products and services. Expenditures related to studies and research carried out for the purpose of obtaining new scientific or technical knowledge are recognised as an expense in profit or loss at the moment they are incurred.

Development costs may be capitalised only if:

- a) if it is technically possible to make the item of intangible asset available for use or sale;
- b) if the group has sufficient financial resources for this purpose;
- c) if the group can use or sell the intangible assets;
- d) if the group can reliably measure the development costs of the intangible asset.

Capitalised costs include various expenditures made to create intangible assets, i.e., material cost, labour costs, expenses related to business trips, depreciation cost of non-current assets. Other development expenses and research expenses, incl. marketing and advertising costs, general administration costs and training costs are recognised as expense in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred. Capitalised development costs are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and losses resulting from the decrease in asset value.

Subsequent costs

Subsequent costs are capitalised only if they increase future economic benefits embodied in the asset to which they are related. All other expenses, including expenses on internally generated goodwill and trademarks, are recognised in the profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method, allocating the cost to the terminal value over the estimated useful life of the asset, and is generally recognised in the income statement.

The ranges of depreciation rates for non-current intangible assets are as follows:

-	Development costs	15 – 25%
-	Software, patents, licences, trademarks and other intangible non-current	20 – 33%
	assets	

Amortisation methods, annual amortisation rates and carrying amounts are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted as necessary.

The evaluation of assets for impairment is described in more detail under the accounting policy "Impairment of assets".

Impairment of assets

Impairment of non-financial assets

The book value of assets other than inventories is reviewed at least annually at the end of the reporting period. The purpose of the review is to identify whether there are any indicators that require the asset to be impaired. If there is reason to assume that the recoverable amount of a certain non-current asset may have fallen short of its book value, they are impairment tested and, if necessary, the asset is impaired.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

When evaluating the value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted with applying a discount rate that expresses current market value trends and specific risks associated with the asset. For asset impairment testing, assets are grouped into the smallest possible group of assets whose cash flows can be distinguished from their continuous use and which are largely independent of cash flows from other assets or asset groups (cash-generating units). For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to those cash-generating units of the entity that should benefit economically from the synergies arising from a particular business combination.

Impairment of an asset is recognised as a loss if the book value of the asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Losses arising from the decline in value of the asset are recognised in the expenses of the period. An impairment loss on a cash-generating unit is recognised first to reduce the carrying amount of the goodwill attributed to the unit and then proportionally to the carrying amount of the unit's other assets.

If the reason for the decrease in value disappears, the previously recognised write-down is reversed. Changes in the circumstances of the write-down are analysed at least once a year at the end of the reporting period. Writedowns are reversed and the value of the asset is increased to the maximum book value that the asset would have had if the write-down had not been applied, while taking into account its depreciation in the meantime. Reversal of an asset write-down is recognised in profit or loss for the period under the same line item as the previous write-down.

Impairment of financial assets

The assessment of financial asset impairment is described in more detail in the accounting policies applied to financial assets and liabilities.

Lease accounting

When entering into a contract, the group assesses whether the contract is a lease or whether the contract contains a lease. A contract is a lease contract (or contains a lease) if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To evaluate whether the contract gives the right to control and use the asset, the group applies the definition of lease given in IFRS 16.

The group as the lessee

When concluding or amending a contract containing a lease component, the group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component.

The group recognises the right-of-use asset and lease liability at the commencement date of the lease. The rightof-use asset is initially measured at cost, which consists of the initial amount of the lease liability. The initial amount of the lease liability is adjusted by any amounts prepaid, by the direct expenses made and by the restoration costs (resulting from the dismantling and restoration of the asset). Any received rental incentives are subtracted from the result.

The right-of-use asset is depreciated using the straight-line model from the commencement date of the lease up to the end of the lease term, unless the lease contract transfers the ownership of the underlying asset to the group at the end of the lease term, or if the residual value of the right-of-use asset indicates that the group plans to exercise the asset's purchase option. In this case, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the entire useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as for the corresponding property, plant and equipment owned by the group. Furthermore, the right of use is reduced in the event of losses arising from impairment of the asset. The right-of-use asset is also adjusted for certain revaluations of lease liabilities.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that have not yet been paid by the lease inception date using the lease's effective interest rate or, if that rate cannot be determined, the lessee's incremental borrowing rate. In general, the group uses the lessee's incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The group determines the lessee's incremental borrowing rate using different sources of financing. The resulting inputs are adjusted taking into account the lease terms and the type of leased asset to arrive at the lessee's incremental borrowing rate appropriate for the leased asset.

The rental payments included in the rental liability include the following components:

- fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments);
- payments of penalties for terminating the lease (if the termination is reasonably certain);
- the exercise price of a purchase option (if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option);
- guaranteed residual value (expected value of the amount payable);
- lease payments that depend on an index or a rate.

The lease liability is measured at adjusted cost. It is recalculated in the event of changes in future lease payments resulting from an index or rate, if the estimate of the amount of the guaranteed residual value changes, or when the Group changes its estimate of whether it wishes to exercise options to purchase the asset, extend the lease or terminate the lease. The lease liability is also remeasured as fixed payments change (including in-substance fixed lease payments).

If the lease liability is revalued for the reasons listed above, a respective adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset. The effect of a change in the lease liability is recognised in profit or loss when the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero.

The group has decided not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the case of low-value asset leases and short-term leases. The Group recognises the lease payments related to these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits include wages and social security contributions, benefits related to the temporary suspension of the employment contract (holiday pay or other similar benefits), if it is assumed that the temporary suspension of the employment contract will take place within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employee performed the work, and other benefits that are to be paid within 12 months after the end of the period in the period in which the period in which the employee performed the work.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earliest of the following dates: when the group can no longer withdraw the offer of these benefits and when the group recognises restructuring costs. If benefits are not

planned to be fully paid out within 12 months from the end of the reporting period, they are discounted to the present value.

Share options

The fair value of equity-settled share-based payments is estimated as of the date of transfer applying the Black-Scholes model. The cost of share-based payments settled with equity instruments is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income during the period of their entry into effect, applying graded vesting, the counterparty of the entry are the reserves within equity.

Inputs for measurement of fair value include the share price at the date of measurement, the strike price of the instrument, the expected volatility, the exercise date of the option, the risk-free interest rate and expected dividends.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised if the group has a legal or constructive obligation to make payments as a result of past events, the settlement of the obligation involves giving up resources and the amount can be reliably measured. Provisions are recognised in the present value of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, applying an interest rate that reflects the market's assessment of the current value of money and the risks characteristic of the obligation. The increase in the provision amount due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Possible obligations, the realisation of which is unlikely or the amount of the associated expenses cannot be estimated with sufficient reliability, but which under certain conditions may become liabilities in the future, are disclosed as contingent liabilities in the notes to the financial statements.

Income tax

Income tax consists of current income tax and deferred income tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement, except for the portion related to business combinations or items that are recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income.

Current income tax

Current income tax consists of the income tax expected to be paid or recovered from the taxable profit or loss of the financial year and the adjustment of income tax liabilities or claims from previous periods. The amount of the current income tax liability or claim is the best estimate of the amount of tax expected to be paid or recovered, which also reflects the potential uncertainty related to income tax.

Current income tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are satisfied.

Corporate income tax in Estonia

According to the effective Income Tax Act of Estonia, the profit of the reporting year is not subject to income tax in Estonia. Income tax is charged on dividends, fringe benefits, gifts, donations, costs of entertaining guests, payments not related to enterprise, and transfer price adjustments.

Dividends that have been paid out of retained profits are generally taxed at the income tax rate of 20/80 on the distribution of dividends (equals 20% of the gross profit to be distributed). Regularly payable dividends are taxed at a rate of 14/86 of the net amount of the dividend. Dividend payments are considered regular if the amount of distributed profit does not exceed the company's average distributed profit of the last three years, on which income tax has been paid in Estonia. Thus, the income tax rates applied to dividends paid by the entity may be the rate of 14/86 and 20/80.

Corporate income tax in other countries

Clevon Corporation, a subsidiary of the group, is registered in the United States, Texas, where the effective corporate income tax rate is 21%. Net losses incurred in 2018 and the following years can be offset to the extent

of 80% of the taxable income of each year. Therefore, Clevon Corporation can offset the deferred tax asset if the business of the company becomes profitable and thereby reduce the income tax liability.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised for temporary differences that arise between the carrying amounts of the group's assets and liabilities and the amounts used for corporate income tax purposes. (the so-called tax base).

According to the laws of the Republic of Estonia, the entity's profit of the reporting year is not taxed in Estonia. The entity's obligation to pay corporate income tax arises when the profit is distributed, and it is recognised in the profit or loss of the period as an expense when dividends are announced.

The group's deferred income tax liability arises from the group's investment in Estonian subsidiaries, associates, and interests in joint ventures and branches, unless the group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future. Examples of the reversal of temporary differences are the payment of dividends, the sale or liquidation of an investment and other transactions.

As the group controls the dividend policy of a subsidiary or branch, it can also check the timing of the temporary differences related to the investment in question. Therefore, if the parent has decided not to distribute such profits in the foreseeable future, it will not recognise the deferred income tax liability. If the parent has decided that dividends will be paid out in the foreseeable future, the deferred income tax obligation shall be recognised up to the amount of these payments in accordance with IAS 12.40.

As the group generally does not control the dividend policy of an associate and a joint venture, it does not control the timing of the reversal of temporary differences. Therefore, the group recognises the deferred income tax liability from investments in affiliates and joint ventures.

The amount of deferred income tax liability shall be measured at the tax rate applicable to temporary differences during the period in which they are expected to be reversed, based on the tax rates applicable at the balance sheet date.

Related parties

The group deems parties to be related, if one party either controls the other party, or has a material impact on business decisions taken by the other party. The related parties of the group are:

- the parent company and its owners;
- other companies in the same consolidation group;
- members of Management Board;
- Close relatives of the persons listed above, and entities connected with them.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are components of an entity that engage in business activities from which they may earn revenues and incur expenses, and for which financial information is available. The group's management regularly reviews the results of the operating segment in order to assess the effectiveness of the segment and to allocate resources to it.

The group has one business and the group operates in one reporting segment.

Events after the reporting period

The consolidated annual accounts reflect significant events affecting the valuation of assets and liabilities that occurred between the end of the reporting period and the date on which the financial statements were prepared but are related to transactions in the reporting period or earlier periods.

Events at the end of the reporting period that are not taken into account in the valuation of assets and liabilities but that significantly affect the result of the following financial year shall be disclosed in the notes to the consolidated accounts.

NOTE 7. EARNINGS PER SHARE

To calculate the net profit per share, the net profit of the financial year attributed to the holders of ordinary shares or the loss is divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

(euros)	31/12/2022	01/04/2022
Shares issued	29 575 771	26 795 000
Shares of outstanding	29 575 771	26 795 000

(euros)	31/12/2022	01/04/2022
Weigted average number of shares outstanding	28 532 982	0
Attributable profit (loss) to owners of the parent	-3 331 824	0
Basic earnings per share	-0,12	0
Diluted earnings per share	-0,12	0

NOTE 8. PREPAYMENTS

(euros)	31/12/2022	01/04/2022
Prepayments for inventories	10 130	0
Prepaid taxes	64 355	0
Other prepayments	5 780	0
Prepayments for fixed assets	12 223	0
Total	92 488	0
Non-current	12 223	0
Current	80 265	0
Total	92 488	0

(euros)	Land and buildings	Machinery and equipment	Other items of property, plant and equipment	Total
Cost at 01/04/2022	499 578	15 572	158 881	674 032
Accumulated depreciation at 01/04/2022	-28 052	-519	-90 118	-118 689
Carrying amount at 01/04/2022	471 527	15 053	68 763	555 343
Acquisition and reconstruction	535 718	83 130	862 995	1 481 843
Depreciation charge	-115 215	-12 926	-102 078	-230 219
Sales and impairments	0	0	-34 680	-34 680
Cost at 31/12/2022	1 035 296	98 702	987 196	2 121 194
Accumulated depreciation at 31/12/2022	-143 267	-13 445	-192 196	-348 908
Carrying amount at 31/12/2022	892 030	85 257	795 000	1 772 287

NOTE 9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Other tangible assets mainly comprise vehicles and equipment used to perform pilot projects.

NOTE 10. INTANGIBLE NON-CURRENT ASSETS

(euros)	Development costs	Patents and licenses	Total
Cost at 01/04/2022	4 104 890	8 490	4 113 380
Accumulated depreciation at 01/04/2022	-697 659	-467	-698 126
Carrying amount at 01/04/2022	3 407 231	8 023	3 415 254
Acquisition	1 685 242	13 040	1 698 282
Depreciation charge	-515 410	-2 484	-517 894
Reclassification	0	0	0
Cost at 31/12/2022	5 790 132	21 530	5 811 662
Accumulated depreciation 31/12/2022	-1 213 069	-2 951	-1 216 020
Cost at 31/12/2022	4 577 063	18 579	4 595 642

Development costs comprise product development related costs to develop the software and hardware of the self-driving vehicle. Most of the costs are related to the labor costs of the engineers.

NOTE 11. REVENUE

Revenue by geography (euros)	01/04/2022-31/12/2022
Sales to EU countries	
Estonia	18 400
Lithuania	42 000
Belgium	37 500
Other EU countries	520
Total sales to EU countries	98 420
Sales to other countries	0
Total sales to other countries	0
Total revenue	98 420
Main products and services	
Pilot project services	95 600
Licence fee	2 300
Sale of hardware components	520
Total revenue	98 420

NOTE 12. GOODS, RAW MATERIAL, MATERIALS AND SERVICES

(euros)	01/04/2022 - 31/12/2022
Development expenses	383 938
Goods transport expenses	62 082
Material for production	18 273
Production equipment lease expenses	2730
Services purchased	42 609
Total	509 632

NOTE 13. OPERATING COSTS

(euros)	01/04/2022 – 31/12/2022
Lease and management of premises	113 136
Office expenses	308 346
Vehicle expenses	53 418
Marketing expenses	133 372
Outsourced services	101 886
Employee related expenses	47 011
Business travel expenses	139 362
Other operatiing costs	185 235
Total	1 081 766

NOTE 14. PERSONNEL EXPENSES

(euros)	Note	01/04/2022 - 31/12/2022
Salary expenses		1 730 379
Social security charges		564 591
Share option expense	13	381 903
Total		2 676 874

Average number of employees expressed in full-time equivalents

Average number of employees by types of employment

Persons employed under employment contracts	87
Persons providing a service pursuant to contracts under the law of obligations, other than sole proprietors	-
Member of the management of controlling body of the legal person	3

NOTE 15. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The group applies a share-based benefits scheme, where the company receives services from the group's employees, in return for which Clevon AS offers equity instruments (options). The fair value of the employee's services received for the grant of options is recognised as a labour cost of the group and an increase in equity (other reserves) during the share-based payment scheme. The total expensed amount is determined based on the fair value at the time the options are granted. At the end of each reporting period, the group reviews its estimates of the number of options expected to vest based on vesting conditions (other than market conditions). The effect of changes in initial estimates, if any, is recognised in the income statement with the corresponding equity adjustment.

The group has concluded two types of share option contracts with the employees of the group:

- contracts with a vesting period of 3 years without objectives, and
- contracts with a vesting period of 5 years, the exercise of which depends on the attainment of the objectives set by the group. At the end of the vesting period, contracts may be awarded if at least one of the following objectives is attained:
- the sales revenue (only sales of products and services) in one financial year starting from the financial year 2025 is at least 100 million euros;
- the value of the company is at least 1 billion euros;
- more than 2,000 vehicles produced by the company are in revenue-generating use.

Unvested options:

Unvested options (number of options)	01/04/22 - 31/12/2022
Remaining at 1 April	0
Waived over the period	0
Exercised within a year	0
Transferred within a year	4 293 758
Remaining as at 31 December	4 293 758

The exercise price of the options is 0.10 euros per share, the nominal value of which is 0.10 euros.

Options generally take effect (vest) within 3 years. Goal-linked option contracts enter into effect within 3-5 years, with a maximum period of 5 years, but if at least one of the set objectives is attained earlier, the options will be exercisable in the year the objective is attained, but no earlier than three years after the option was granted.

As of December 31, 2022, 180 option contracts (90 without goals and 90 with goals) had been entered into with 90 employees of the group, which were effective as at the end of the financial year.

Option contracts have not been settled in cash and there is no intention to settle in cash any share-based payments intended to be settled in equity instruments.

Fair value of granted options

The fair value on the date of granting is determined based on the share price on the date of granting in First North, a multilateral trading system organised by Nasdaq Tallinn AS, where the shares of Clevon AS are listed.

Labour cost, which was reported in 2022 in share-based payments is 381,903 euros.

The cost of share-based payments settled with equity instruments (Note 14) amounts to 381,903 euros.

The reserve for share-based payments settled with equity instruments is recognised in the statement of financial position in the line item "Other reserves".

NOTE 16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Holdings of the parent company of the group in subsidiaries as of the end of the reporting period:

List of subsidiaries	Main area of activity	Country of location	Holding %: 31/12/2022	Holding %: 01/04/2022
Clevon Corporation	Logistics services	USA	100%	n/a

The voting rights of the group shall be equal to a percentage of the holding in the subsidiary.

NOTE 17. RELATED PARTIES

The group deems parties to be related, if one party either controls the other party, or has a material impact on business decisions taken by the other party. Transactions with related parties shall mean transactions with shareholders, executive and senior management, their close relatives and companies under the control or dominant influence of all the aforementioned persons.

Liabilities		
(euros)	31/12/2022	01/04/2022
Loans received		
* Entities controlled by shareholders with a controlling interest	950 000	0
Trade payables and other liabilities		
Entities controlled by shareholders with a controlling interest	4 030	0
Receivables		
(euros)	31/12/2022	01/04/2022
Trade and other receivables		
Entities controlled by shareholders with a controlling interest	1 954	0
Sales		
(euros)	0	1/04/2022 – 31/12/2022
Services		
Entities controlled by shareholders with a controlling interest		2 329
Non-current assets		
Entities controlled by shareholders with a controlling interest		1 600

(euros)	01/04/2022 – 31/12/2022
Goods	
Entities controlled by shareholders with a controlling interest	26 853
Services	
Entities controlled by shareholders with a controlling interest	93 878
Non-current assets	
Entities controlled by shareholders with a controlling interest	80 392

Interest expenses

(euros)	01/04/2022 - 31/12/2022
** Entities controlled by shareholders with a controlling interest	37 838

Remuneration and other benefits calculated for the members of the executive and top management

(euros)	01/04/2022 - 31/12/2022
Calculated remunerations	108 000
Compensation for the use of a personal car	2 470
Total remuneration and other significant benefits	110 470

* A loan in the amount of 950 thousand euros has been received from the related party Cleveron AS

** Interest expense calculated on the loan received from Cleveron AS

NOTE 18. GOING CONCERN

This annual report has been prepared on the going concern basis, assuming that the Group will be able to realise its assets and fulfil its obligations in the course of its normal business operations. The Management Board draws attention to the following:

- The Group's operating cash flows in 2022 were negative by 1 459 thousand euros and the cash flows for 2023 are presumed to be even more negative
- The Group's current net assets are insufficient to cover future cash flows as at 31 December 2022, current assets exceeded current liabilities by only 784 thousand euros, hence further financing is required to continue operations

Clevon is negotiating Series A financing with a potential investor. For this purpose, a Letter of Intent has been signed to invest more than 10 million dollars and the Management Board believes based on actions and discussions up to the signing of the annual report, that the likelihood for success is high. Based on this transaction, the company is negotiating a bridge financing round with various Estonian and other investors from nearby regions until Series A can be closed successfully.

The Management Board believes that based on the above circumstances, the Group will be able to achieve a financial position that ensures the continuity of its operations. However, there exists uncertainty whether the financing round is successful and in such an event, the Group would be unable to fulfil all of its obligations on time, there is significant doubt about the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and as a result, the Group may not be able to realize its assets and meet its obligations in the course of its normal business operations.

In order to finance the Group as needed, a comfort letter was signed on 30 June 2023 between Clevon AS's parent company Clevon Investors AS and Clevon Investors' main shareholder Konna OÜ, promising financial

support in case of financial difficulties, provided, that the management of Clevon AS has submitted a reasoned application for that purpose and accordingly, if necessary, invest additional funds essential to ensure that Clevon AS will continue as a going concern for 12 months from the end of the 2022 financial year.

NOTE 19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - FAIR VALUE AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Accounting classifications and fair values

All of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group have been presented in the statement of financial position or as contingent assets or liabilities in the notes to the annual report. The fair values of the entries Cash and cash equivalents, Trade and other receivables, Prepayments, Trade payables, Employee related liabilities and Other liabilities are approximately close to their carrying values, hence the Group has not published their fair value.

The fair value of loans is equal to their carrying value according to the estimations of the management, as the contractual interest rates are equal to market rates.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or a party to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises primarily from the Group's trade receivables

The Group manages credit risk by regularly tracking the payment behaviour of customers and sending regular reminders to customers past due. With new clients and significant amounts, customers are asked for prepayments when possible.

During the period under review, the Group did not have any losses from impairment of assets.

Expected credit losses

The Group always records trade receivables with a discount in an amount equal to the expected credit loss over their lifetime. To assess the credit loss of these assets, a provision matrix is used, based on the Group's historical experience with credit loss, which is adjusted by specific factors with certain debtors, general economic cirumstances and the time value of money if necessary. Presumed credit losses are probability weighted credit losses. Credit loss is the difference between the contractual cash flows and the cash flows expected by the Group, which is discounted with the internal rate of return of the financial asset.

The next table shows the exposure to credit risk and expected credit losses with trade receivables and customer contracts.

	Expected	Carrying value	Loss given	In default
31/12/2022	loss rate		default	
Not overdue	0%	5 914	0	No
Overdue 1-30 days	0%	14 290	0	No
Total		20 204	0	

01/04/2022	Expected loss rate	Carrying value	Loss given default	In default
Not overdue	0%	0	0	No
Total		0	0	

During the period under review, the Group did not have credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group had cash and cash equivalents of 1 767 398 euros as at 31 December 2022 (01 April 2022: 0 euros). Cash and cash equivalents are held in financial institutes, whose long term rating or the rating of their parent is at least Baa1. The ratings have been issues by Moody's.

The Group estimates that the credit risk of cash and cash equivalents is low, given the credit ratings assigned to the financial institutions.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the possible risk that the Group has limited or insufficient financial resources to fulfil its obligations arising from the Group's activities. Long term liquidity risk is the risk that the Group has insufficient free cash or other sources of liquidity to cover the liquidity needs to fulfil its business plan and meet obligations or that the Group has to raise funds in a hurry.

To manage the liquiity risk, the Group follows each month a cash forecast for the next months and in case of an expected deficit of funds raises additional capital or reduces planned costs.

Openness to liquidity risk

The following table shows the financial liabilities by maturity as at the reporting date. The amounts are shown gross without discounting and include contractual interest payments.

Contractual cash flows				ws			
As at 31/12/2022 (euros)	Carrying value	1-3 months	4-6 months	7-12 months	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Loans	996 241	346 327	15 210	350 687	355 060	0	1 067 284
Rental obligations	448 678	43 074	43 074	86 347	242 980	124 663	540 138
Trade payables	134 976	134 976	0	0	0	0	134 976
Other payables	497 577	497 577	0	0	0	0	497 577
Total	2 077 472	1 021 954	58 284	437 034	598 040	124 663	2 239 975

		Contractual cash flo			ws		
As at 01/04/2022	Carrying	1-3 months	4-6	7-12	1-5 years	Over 5	Total
(euros)	value		months	months		years	
Loans	49 876	3 127	3 127	6 254	45 859	0	58 367
Other payables	35 474	35 474	0	0	0	0	35 474
Total	85 350	38 601	3 127	6 254	45 859	0	93 841

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as commodities, exchange rates, interest rates and capital prices, will affect the Group's income or the value of investments in financial instruments. The purpose of market risk management is to manage and keep positions exposed to market risk within acceptable limits while optimizing returns.

As the main focus of the Group is currently product development, it could be said that the Group currently does not have market risk which could significantly impact the results of the business.

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will be volatile because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group does not have significant assets and liabilities in currencies other than the functional currency (euro).

In 2022, 100% of the receipts and 89% of the disbursements (cost of goods sold, operating expenses, investments, financial expenses) were made in euros. Given nearly all the receipts and disbursement are in euros and debt is denominated in euros, it can be said that currency risks do not pose a significant impact to the activities of the Group.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair values of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate risk is derived from variable interest rate liabilities and the risk that financial expenses will increase if interest rates rise.

_(euros)	31/12/2022	01/04/2022
Fixed rate financial liabilities	453 857	0
Variable rate financial liabilities	991 062	0
Total	1 444 919	0

If there had been a 100 basis point sized increase in the interest rates of interest bearing financial liabilities, the growth of the consolidated profit and equity over the next 12 months (assuming everything else holds constant) would have been the following.

(euros)	31/12/2022	01/04/2022
100 basis point increase	37 874	0
Total	37 874	0

NOTE 20. FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON THE GROUP'S PARENT COMPANY

The financial information on the Parent comprises the financial statements of the Parent, which are required to be disclosed in accordance with the Estonian Accounting Act. The financial statements of the Parent have been prepared using the same accounting policies as were applied on preparing the consolidated financial statements, except those investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(euros)	31/12/2022	01/04/2022
Current assets		
Cash and cash equivalents	1 732 419	0
Trade and other receivables	92 150	0
Prepayments	20 733	0
Inventories	334 053	496 115
Total current assets	2 179 356	496 115
Non-current assets		
Financial investments	1	0
Trade and other receivables	187 512	0
Prepayments	12 223	0
Property, plant and equipment	1 757 811	555 343
Intangible assets	4 595 642	3 415 254
Total non-current assets	6 553 189	3 970 597
TOTAL ASSETS	8 732 545	4 466 712
LIABILITIES Current liabilities		
Loans	797 219	16 559
Trade and other liabilities	611 799	35 474
Trade payables	133 668	0
Employee related liabilities	248 756	35 474
Other liabilities	229 375	0
Total current liabilities	1 409 018	52 033
Non-current liabilities		
Loans	647 700	33 317
Total non-current liabilities	647 700	33 317
Total liabilities	2 056 718	85 351
Equity		
Share capital	2 957 577	2 679 500
Share premium	6 508 708	1 701 862
Other reserves	381 903	0
Profit (loss) for the period	-3 172 362	0
Total equity attributable to the owners of the parent	6 675 826	4 381 362
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY	8 732 545	4 466 712

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

	01/04/2022-
(euros)	31/12/2022
Revenue	98 420
Other income	12 948
Capitalized expenses for manufacturing of non-current assets for own use	1 685 242
Goods, raw material materials and services	-509 632
Operating expenses	-1 001 534
Personnel expenses	-2 598 468
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment	-782 228
Other expenses	-3 897
Operating proft (loss)	-3 099 148
Finance income	836
Finance costs	-61 562
Other finance income and costs	-12 488
Profit (loss) before income tax	-3 172 362
PROFT (LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD	-3 172 362

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

(eurodes)	01/04/2022- 31/12/2022
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES	
Profit (loss) for the period	-3 172 362
Adjustments:	
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment	782 228
Gain (loss) on sale of tangible and intangible assets	-23
Finance costs	73 214
Increase in option reserve	381 903
Change in operating receivables and prepayments	-124 457
Change in inventories	162 062
Change in operating accounts payable and prepayments	576 325
TOTAL CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES	-1 321 109
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES	
Paid upon acquisition of property, plant and equipment and non-	
current intangible assets	-2 630 943
Received from sales of propety, pland and equipment and intangible	
assets	1 600
Paid upon acquisition of subsidiaries	-1
Loans granted	-187 512
Interest received	186
TOTAL CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES	-2 816 670
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES	
Loans received	950 000
Repayments of loans received	5 179
Repayment of capital leases	-8 814
Repayment of lease liabilities	-110 181
Interest paid	-38 421
Received from share issue less issuance costs	5 084 923
TOTAL CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES	5 882 686
NET CASH FLOW	1 744 907

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period	0
Change in cash and cash equivalents	1 744 907
Effect of movements in exchange rates on cash held	-12 488
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period	1 732 419

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(euros)	Share capital	Share premium	Other reserves	Retained earnings (loss)	Total
Equity at 01/04/2022	2 679 500	1 701 862	0	0	4 381 362
Profit (loss) for the period	0	0	0	-3 172 362	-3 172 362
Shares issued	278 077	4 806 846	0	0	5 084 923
Formation of share option reserve	0	0	381 903	0	381 903
Equity at 31/12/2022	2 957 577	6 508 708	381 903	-3 172 362	6 675 826

DECLARATION OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD

The Management Board has prepared the management report and the consolidated financial statements of Clevon AS for the year ended December 31, 2022.

The accuracy of the data presented in the annual report has been confirmed by the Management Board:



Arno Kütt Management Board member



Sander Sebastian Agur Management Board member

Tiia Toom Management Board member



KPMG Baltics OÜ Narva mnt 5 Tallinn 10117 Estonia

Telephone Fax Internet +372 6 268 700 +372 6 268 777 www.kpmg.ee

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

(Translation of the Estonian original)

To the Shareholders of Clevon AS

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Clevon AS (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of cash flows and the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Estonia). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements* section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (Estonia) (including Independence Standards) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw your attention to Appendix 18 of the consolidated financial statements, which shows that the group's operating cash flows are negative, and the group is operating at loss. As noted in Note 18, these events or conditions, together with the other circumstances described in Note 18, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in relation to this matter.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the management report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors' report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. In addition, our responsibility is to state whether the information presented in the management report has been prepared in accordance with the applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard and we state that the information presented in the management report is materially consistent with the consolidated financial statements and in accordance with the applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.



In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Estonia) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Estonia), we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
 appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
 the Group's internal control.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

KPMG Baltics OÜ Licence No 17

Signed Helen Veetamm Certified Public Accountant, Licence No 660 Tallinn, 30 June 2023

PROFIT ALLOCATION RECOMMENDATION

The Management Board of Clevon AS recommends allocating the net loss of 3,331,824 euros to retained earnings and to cover the loss from the profit of following periods.